I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. MITCHELL'S MOTION TO 

SUPPRESS WHEN HE WAS DETAINED BY A FARE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER 

AFTER MR. MITCHELL HAD ALREADY EXITED THE Bus FOR THE SOLE 

PURPOSE OF DEMANDING THAT MR. MITCHELL PRODUCE PROOF THAT HE 

PAID. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED MR. MITCHELL'S 

CONVICTION BECAUSE UNDER THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN, No REASONABLE 

JUROR COULD HA VE REJECTED HIS LACK OF NOTICE DEFENSE. 

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED MR. MITCHELL'S 

CONVICTION TO STAND DESPITE TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO LOCATE 

EASILY DISCOVERABLE EVIDENCE THAT WOULD HAVE STRONGLY 

SUPPORTED MR. MITCHELL'S SOLE DEFENSE (LACK OF NOTICE). 

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. MITCHELL'S 

MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHEN HE WAS DETAINED BY A FARE ENFORCEMENT 

OFFICER AFTER MR. MITCHELL HAD ALREADY EXITED THE Bus FOR THE 

SOLE PURPOSE OF DEMANDING THAT MR. MITCHELL PRODUCE PROOF 

THAT HE PAID. 

2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ENTERED MR. MITCHELL'S 

CONVICTION BECAUSE UNDER THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN, No REASONABLE 

JUROR COULD HA VE REJECTED HIS LACK OF NOTICE DEFENSE. 

3. WHETHER MR. MITCHELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF 

COUNSEL WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO LOCATE EASILY 

DISCOVERABLE EVIDENCE THAT WOULD HAVE STRONGLY SUPPORTED MR. 

MITCHELL'S SOLE DEFENSE (LACK OF NOTICE). 



Ill. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. FACTS RELATING TO MR. MITCHELL'S DETENTION & ARREST 

1. PRE-DETENTION FACTS 

On March 2, 2012, Mr. Mitchell boarded a Metro Bus in Tukwila, 

Washington. The bus was travelling north on Pacific Highway South. 1 At the 

suppression hearing, Mr. Mitchell testified that he entered the bus through the 

front door, paid for his fare with cash, and the bus driver gave him a transfer 

ticket as he entered. Just before he exited the bus, Mr. Mitchell gave his transfer 

to another passenger. Mr. Mitchell then exited the bus.2 

Meanwhile, two Fare Enforcement Officers (FEOs), Charles Smith and 

Christopher Johnson, were on duty and waiting to board the Mr. Mitchell bus at 

Mr. Mitchell's intended exit. FEO's are private security officers whose sole duty, 

as FEO John would later testify, is "to board [Metro] buses, contact passengers 

[and ask] for proof of payment" on certain routes. 3 

2. THE INITIAL DETENTION 

Most of the facts that follow are not disputed. When the bus's doors 

opened, several passengers, including Mr. Mitchell, exited. Waiting outside the 

bus was FEO Johnson, who was waiting to board the bus after the passengers 

exited. After the passengers exited the bus, FEO Johnson approached each 

passenger and briefly detained each of them. One at a time, FEO Johnson stopped 

1 The type of route Mr. Mitchell was on, called "RapidRides," is apparently one such route. On 
those routes, passengers have two different ways to pay: (a) using a pre-paid "ORCA" card that 
works like a debit card, or (b) cash. At every rapid fare bus stop, signs are posted that tell each 
passenger that he must retain "proof of payment" when he is riding the bus. See FEO Johnson's 
testimony at RP 96. 
2 RP 119-122. 
3 RP 22. 
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each of the passengers once they had exited the bus, and demanded that they show 

him "proof of payment," i.e. by either showing him their ORCA card, or a transfer 

ticket.4 Before stopping any of these former passengers, including Mr. Mitchell, 

FEO Johnson had no objective reason to believe that any of them had not paid. 5 

After stopping Mr. Mitchell and demanding proof of payment, Mr. 

Mitchell could not present his proof of payment. He then tried to explain to FEO 

Johnson that, thinking he no longer needed it, he gave the transfer to another 

passenger just before exiting the bus. FEO Johnson ignored Mr. Mitchell's 

explanation and continued to detain him, now demanding that Mr. Mitchell 

produce his identification. Mr. Mitchell gave his full name and date of birth, but 

did not have his identification on him. FEO Johnson then requested King County 

SherrifP s Deputy Drazich, who was near the scene, to assist him in verifying Mr. 

Mitchell's identity.6 

After Deputy Drazich ran Mr. Mitchell's name and date of birth, the 

warrants check "returned with a valid warrant out of SeaTac PD ... [for] DWLS 

Third." 7 Deputy Drazich testified that "[he] knew at that moment that [he] had 

grounds for a physical arrest. 8 He proceeded to place Mr. Mitchell under arrest, 

"for that warrant." During a search incident to arrest, Deputy Drazich found two 

revolvers: a .22 caliber in Mr., Mitchell's front right pocket and a.32 caliber in his 

front left pocket. 9 

4 RP 97. 
5 RP 96-99. ("Before talking to him, I would not know that he'd committed any ... infraction.") 
6 RP 40; RP 95-101. 
7 RP41 
8 RP41 
9 RP 20-35. 
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Mr. Mitchell was eventually transported and booked at the precinct and 

was further interviewed by KCSO Detectives Morris and Barfield before being 

transported to King County Jail. Six months after his arrest, Mr. Mitchell received 

a citation in the mail for "failure to display proof of payment. And that's cited 

under Title 81."10 

B. MR. MITCHELL'S DEFENSES & RELEVANT JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

Through the trial, defense counsel burned through many different 

defenses. Initially, defense counsel argued a necessity defense, which the Court 

corrected rejected, as there was no eminent threat to Mr. Mitchell. Ultimately, Mr. 

Mitchell's counsel argued a lack of notice defense, pursuant to the judicially 

created affirmative defense in Brietung. 

Operability of the Firearm. At trial, the State believed that it needed to 

prove that Mr. Mitchell possessed an "operable" firearm. It argued this theory in 

closing, and it requested a jury instruction to support of this theory. Adopting the 

State's proposed instruction, 11 the court instructed the jury as follows: 

Definition of "Firearm" Instruction 

A "firearm" is a weapon or device from which a projectile may be 
fired by an explosive such as gunpowder. A temporarily inoperable 
firearm that can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and 
within a reasonable time period is a 'firearm.' A disassembled 
firearm that can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and 
within a reasonable time period is a 'firearm.' 12 

10 RP 185 
11 CP 59 (modifying the WPIC based upon State v. Releford 148 wn. App. 478. 490-91, 200 P.3d 
729 (2009). 
12 CP 188 (Jury Instruction No. l 0) 
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Lack of Notice. By the end of trial, Mr. Mitchell's sole defense was that 

he was never given notice of his right to possess a firearm as required by statute 

and as stated in the Supreme Court's decision in Brietung. On that defense, the 

Court instructed the jury as follows: 

Lack of Notice 

It is an affirmative defense to the crime of Unlawful Possession of 
a Firearm in the First Degree that the defendant had a lack of 
notice. 

This defense must be established by a preponderance of the 
evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be 
persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more 
probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has 
established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of 
not guilty. 

Actual notice can be met where the evidence demonstrates oral and 
written notification, or by other evidence. 13 

In addition, the court gave the jury a standard WPIC instruction on 

knowledge, which reads as follows: 

Knowledge Instruction 

A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect 
to a fact, circumstance or result when he or she is aware of that 
fact, circumstance or result. It is not necessary that the person 
know that the fact, circumstance or result is defined by law as 
being unlawful or an element of a crime. 

If a person has information that would lead a reasonable person in 
the same situation to believe that a fact exists, the jury is permitted 
but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge of that 
fact. 

When acting knowingly as to a particular fact is required to 
establish an element of a crime, the element is also established if a 
person acts intentionally as to that fact. 14 

13 CP 187 (Jury Instruction No. 7) 
14 CP 188 (Jury Instruction No. 8) 

5 



C. VERDICT & SENTENCING 

The jury found Mr. Mitchell guilty of one count of unlawful possession of 

a firearm as charged. 15 The court sentenced Mr. Mitchell to a standard range 

sentence. 16 

IV. ARGUMENTS 

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. MITCHELL'S MOTION TO 

SUPPRESS. 

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Factual findings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. A finding that lacks 

sufficient factual support-one that is not supported by "substantial evidence"-is 

an abuse of discretion. 17 Evidence is substantial if the facts before the court would 

be enough to convince a rational, fair-minded person that the finding was in fact 

true. 18 Those findings, if supported by substantial evidence, must also support the 

trial court's conclusions of law. Whether the findings support the court's legal 

conclusions is reviewed de novo. 19 

CrR 3.6 requires, after a hearing on a motion to suppress, that the court 

enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law (FFCL ). 2° Filing timely 

FFCLs are essential to ensure efficient and accurate appellate review. 21 

Submitting late FFCL's is "disfavored," because it may prejudice the defendant 

15 CP 172 
16 CP 226-33. 
17 State v. Gibson, 152 Wn. App. 945, 951, 219 P.3d 964 (2009). 
18 State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 ( 1994). 
19 State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 867, 319 P.3d 9 (2014). 
2° CrR 3.6(b). 
21 State v. Cannon, 130 Wn.2d 313, 329, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996). 
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on appeal.22 The duty to submit proposed FFCL's falls on the prevailing party.23 

In Mr. Mitchell's case, that duty fell on the State. Yet, at the time Mr. Mitchell 

has filed his opening brief, no proposed FFCL' s have been offered to the court, 

and no FFCLs have been filed. 

This Court should prohibit the State from supplementing the record at this 

late juncture. Allowing the court to file late FFCL would certainly prejudice Mr. 

Mitchell, both by delaying a timely review of his appeal, and potentially, by 

allowing the Court, or the State as the submitting party, to tailor those findings to 

avoid reversal. In fact, the only feasible reason for submitting FFCL's at this late 

juncture would be to save the Trial Court's erroneous ruling by tailoring the 

FFCL in light of the arguments advanced here in this brief. As such, this Court 

should treat the Trial Court's brief oral ruling as if it were is written FFCL on 

appeal. 

2. A LAWFUL DETENTION REQUIRES THE "AUTHORITY OF LAW" 

The Fourth Amendment protects us from warrantless searches and 

seizures by requiring them to be supported by probable cause.24 Washington's 

Constitution goes further than that. 25 Article I, section 7 provides that "[n]o 

person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without 

authority of law." Thus, in Washington, probable cause alone is not enough to 

22 Id at 329-30. 
23 State v. Head, 136 Wn.2d 619, 625-26, 964 P.2d 1187, 1190-91 (1998). 
24 Staats v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 757, 771 (2000). 
25 State v. Walker, 157 Wn.2d 307, 313, 138 P.3d 113 (2006). 
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authorize a warrantless seizure.26 The State bears the burden to show that such 

authority exists. 27 

The "authority of law" to seize someone must be granted by the 

constitution or by statute. 28 For example, the Legislature has granted police 

officers the authority to make warrantless felony and misdemeanor arrests to the 

specific situations described in RCW 10.31.100. For misdemeanors, that statute 

allows police to make a warrantless misdemeanor arrest if the suspect commits 

the offense "in the presence" of the arresting officer.29 

Washington's legislature used this same "in the presence" language in 

RCW 7.80.050-060, and the Supreme Court has applied it to infractions. 30 

Referencing this requirement, the Trial Court held that FEO Johnson was allowed 

to detain Mr. Mitchell because Mr. Mitchell failed to produce his proof of 

payment to FEO Johnson when asked. In other words, the Court held that FEO 

Johnson was "justified to stop [Mr. Mitchell] and ask for proof of payment,"31 

because it later turned out, after the initial detention, that Mr. Mitchell did not 

have his proof of payment. 

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT FEO JOHNSON HAD 
THE AUTHORITY "TO STOP" MR. MICHELL AND "ASK FOR PROOF OF 
PAYMENT" BECAUSE HE COULD NOT PRODUCE PROOF OF PAYMENT 
PURSUANT TO RCW 7.80.060. 

26 State v. Barker, 143 Wn.2d 915 (2001) (Oregon cop did not have constitutional or statutory 
authority at time to effect DWI stop of motorist crossing into Washington). 
27 State v. Ducan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 43 P.3d 513 (2002). 
28 See id 
29 RCW 10.31.100; State v. Ortega, 177 Wn. 2d 116, 122, 297 P.3d 57, 60 (2013). Police may also 
arrest someone for specifically defined misdemeanors, such as domestic violence offenses, no 
contact order violations, anti-harassment orders, DWI, OWLS, Hit and Run Unattended, criminal 
trespass, MIP, and others. See generally State v. Bonds, 98 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 653 P.2d 1024 (1982). 
30 See, e.g., Ducan, 146 Wn.2d at 166. 
31 RP 185. 
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Before denying Mr. Mitchell's motion to suppress, the trial court outlined 

the facts, the applicable law and the issue before it as follows: 

The Court has reviewed each of the Exhibits that were offered and 
admitted in this case in support of its analysis in this case. The 
question is whether the officer's stop was justified. And by officer, 
I'm referring to the fare en[Orcement officer. And it must meet the 
requirements of a warrantless search and seizure under the Fourth 
Amendment as well as the Washington State Constitution. 

From the Court's reading in State v. Duncan, found at 146 Wn.2d 
166 (2002), the Court specifically refers to RCW 7 .80, which 
governs civil infractions. And here the question becomes whether 
the fare en{Orcement officer was justified to stop and ask {Or proof 
of payment. In the absence, as are found under these facts, of a 
proof of payment, the officer may take identification information 
for citation at a later time. And that's what the officer did in this 
case, based upon an infraction committed in his presence. Here the 
infraction, as {Ound on the citation, is a failure to display proof of 
payment. And that's cited under Title 81. 

The facts in this case are undisputed with respect to the Defendant 
exiting the RapidRide transit on March 2, 2012. He was asked by 
the Fare Enforcement Officer Johnson for proof of payment, 
together with other persons exiting the RapidRide, and he was 
unable to show proof of payment. He indicated that he had given 
his proof of payment to someone else. From that, the fare 
enforcement officer took personal information, which the 
Defendant gave voluntarily. From these facts, the Court reaches 
the conclusion that the fare enforcement officer did have a right 
under the civil infraction statutes to stop and inquire about proof 
f 32 oyayment ... 

At the outset, the Court cited Duncan, which outlines some of the 

applicable law, as discussed below and it framed the issue before correctly as this: 

"whether [FEO Johnson] was justified to stop" Mr. Mitchell and "ask for his 

proof of payment. "33 But then, the court goes on to say that FEO Johnson was 

32 RP 185-87. 
33 RP 185. 
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justified to detrain Mr. Mitchell, to ask for proof of payment "based upon an 

infraction [failure to display proof of payment] in [FEO Johnson's] presence."34 

In other words, FEO Johnson's initial detention, "to ask for proof of payment," 

was, under the Court's reasoning, justified because he later learned after he 

detained Mr. Mitchell, that Mr. Mitchell committed an infraction in his presence. 

This reasoning is fatally flawed for several reasons. At the outset, the State 

failed to meet its burden to show that Mr. Mitchell committed any infraction at 

all. Mr. Mitchell testified that he did not give his transfer ticket away until 

moments before he stepped off the bus. This testimony was uncontroverted. FEO 

Johnson testified that all passengers are notified that they must keep their transfer 

tickets as proof of purchase while they are on the bus. Even if Mr. Mitchell was 

given fair notice of this requirement, it is the high of formality to expect him to 

know that he must retain that proof of purchase, even when he knows that seconds 

later, he will be exited the bus and will no longer need it. 

In addition, even if Mr. Mitchell did commit an infraction, the Court's 

reasoning is still fatally flawed because FEO Johnson had no idea that an 

infraction had been committed until after he detained Mr. Mitchell. The Court's 

reasoning, therefore, flatly ignores the long-standing constitutional rule that no 

officer, regardless of the source of his authority, may ever justify a seizure with 

facts that he learns after he seizes that person. 35 

And even if the Legislature could empower FEO's to retroactively justify 

an otherwise unlawful detention, it did not do so here. RCW 7.80.050-060 only 

34 RP 185-87. 
35 See e.e.g, State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 225-26, 970 P.2d 722 (1999). 
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allows FEO Johnson to detain Mr. Mitchell if he commits an infraction in FEO 

Johnson's "presence." The Trial Court recognized that this was the rule, but it 

clearly failed to understand what that phrase meant. Recently, our Supreme Court 

has clarified exactly what that phrase means. In Ortega, the Court clearly said that 

an infraction does not occur "in an officer's presence," until "the officer directly 

perceives facts permitting a reasonable inference that a misdemeanor is being 

committed. "36 

But here, FEO Johnson was not aware of any such facts until after he had 

already detained Mr. Mitchell. It was not until he detained Mr. Mitchell to "ask 

for proof of payment" when FEO Johnson learned that Mr. Mitchell did not have 

it. Thus, at the time he detained Mr. Mitchell, FEO Johnson did not, and in fact 

could not have known, whether Mr. Mitchell committed any infraction 

whatsoever. The Trial Court concluded so much when it framed the issue before 

the Court as "whether [FEO Johnson] was justified to stop" Mr. Mitchell and "ask 

for his proof of payment."37 

Duncan, which the Court relied upon, actually contravenes its own 

conclusion. In that case, police observed Duncan and two other men at a bus stop 

standing near an open bottle concealed in a brown bag. Suspecting that the bottle 

contained alcohol, the officer's stopped Duncan for potentially committing a civil 

infraction (possessing an open container of alcohol in public). But the Trial Court 

correctly suppressed the evidence, reasoning that the offense did not occur "in the 

officer's presence. The Supreme Court affirmed, reasoning that, because the 

36 Ortega, 177 Wn.2d at 122 
37 RP 185. 
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officers did not actually see "Duncan drinking the alcohol, or holding the bottle, 

or reacting to their approach, the violation did not occur in their presence. 38 

Here, there is even less of a basis for stopping Mr. Mitchell than there was 

in Duncan. In Duncan, before detaining the suspect, the officers at least had a 

reasonable suspicion to believe that Duncan violated the open container law: they 

saw a bottle concealed in a brown bag, which is commonly used to conceal 

alcohol, the bottle was "cold" to touch, and Duncan was one of only three men 

standing near it. But here, there are absolutely no facts from which FEO Johnson 

could have concluded that Mr. Mitchell did not pay for his fare, or that he did not 

have his proof of payment. In fact, FEO Johnson even admitted that "Before 

talking to" Mr. Mitchell, FEO Johnson "would not know that he'd committed any 

... infraction" whatsoever. 39 

4. RCW 81.112.210(2)(8) DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THAT STATUTE 
APPLIES TO TRAINS & LIGHT RAILS, NOT BUSES. 

The State may argue that RCW 81.112.210(2)(b) authorized FEO Johnson 

to detain Mr. Mitchell under these facts. This argument should be rejected 

because that argument is not at all supported by the plain text of that statute. 

First, under Title 81, Section 112, as defense counsel argued at trial, does 

not apply to buses. It applies solely to trains and light rails. When interpreting a 

statute, this Court's primary duty is to give effect to the legislature's intent. 40 

Words in a statute should be given their ordinary meaning; if the plain meaning of 

38 Duncan, 146 Wn. 2d at 182. 
39 RP 96-99. 
40 State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600, 115 P.3d 281 (2005). 
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the statute is clear, no further interpretation is necessary.41 When it enacted that 

titled, in 1999, the Legislature made its intent very clear: 

The purpose of this act is to facilitate ease of boarding of 
commuter trains and light rail trains operated by regional transit 
authorities by allowing for barrier free entry ways. 42 

To accomplish this goal, the Legislature gave "regional transit 

authorities," such as Sound Transit, the power to employ FEOs.43 Those FEO's, 

as the Legislature envisioned, were empowered to monitor the payment of fares

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