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

to monitor fare payment; or refuse to leave the bus when asked by
a person designated to monitor fare payment. The authority to
issue civil citations for fare payment violations is supplemental to
any other existing authority to enforce fare payment.

Final Bill Report for E.S.H.B. 2480 at 1-2 (App. D); see also Laws of

2008, Ch. 123, §§ 1-2 (codified at RCW 35.58.580-.585).

Mitchell's distinction between buses and trains also fails in the

context of the RapidRide coaches at issue in this case. Such vehicles do

present the same concerns for fare evasion as trains, because passengers

may pre-pay their fare by tapping a card at designated scanners. 1 RP

64-65. They may also board the RapidRide coach from the rear. 1RP 64.

Thus, because RapidRide passengers may bypass the driver at the front

door, they are required to maintain proof of payment at all times. 1RP 64,

66, 81. This Court should reject Mitchell's distinction.

Second, Mitchell may argue that FEO Johnson lacked authority to

request proof of payment from him because he had just stepped off the

RapidRide coach and therefore was no longer a "passenger" within the

meaning of RCW 35.58.585(2)(b)(i).10 This interpretation is too narrow;

leads to absurd results, and should be rejected. A person asked to show

proof of fare could simply step off the vehicle, at which point the FEO's

authority would instantly dissipate. This would completely negate an

to Mitchell argues that he was no longer a "passenger" within the meaning of RCW
81.112.210(2)(b). Br. ofApp't at 14-15.
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FEO's ability to enforce fare payment. Because the legislature never

could have intended such an absurd result, Mitchell's claim should be

rejected.

Finally, to the extent that Mitchell maintains that the relevant

statutes fail to provide a constitutionally valid basis for his detention, the

Washington Supreme Court expressly has rejected the contention that a

Terry-stop analysis applies to civil infractions. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d at

178. Instead, "chapter 7.80 RCW provides an independent basis that

could justify a stop for the investigation of a civil infraction." Id. at 178.

Because Mitchell committed a civil infraction in FEO Johnson's presence

by failing to show proof of payment when asked, his detention was valid.

Mitchell's conviction should be affirmed.

2. THE JURY REASONABLY REJECTED
MITCHELL'S INCREDIBLE AFFIRMATIVE
DEFENSE.

Mitchell asserts that no reasonable jury could have rejected his

affirmative defense, that the State failed to provide him with adequate

notice of his ineligibility to possess a firearm. This argument is without

merit. The State adduced evidence that Mitchell received both oral and

written notice of his ineligibility to possess a firearm. Mitchell's

testimony to the contrary was highly incredible. The jury reasonably

found his defense unproven.
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a. Standard Of Review.

When a defendant claims on appeal that a jury should have found

his affirmative defense proven, courts ask "whether, considering the

evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact

could have found that the defendant failed to prove the defense by a

preponderance of the evidence." State v. Lively, 130 Wn.2d 1, 17, 921

P.2d 1035 (1996). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and

are not subject to review on appeal. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71,

794 P.2d 850 (1990). Thus, appellate courts defer to the jury on issues of

"conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of

the evidence." State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970

(2004).

prove:

b. The Jury Reasonably Rejected Mitchell's
Incredible Defense.

In order to convict Mitchell of UPFA, the State was required to

(1) That on or about March 2, 2012, [Mitchell] knowingly had a
firearm in his possession or control;

(2) That [Mitchell] had previously been convicted of a serious
offense; and

(3) That the possession or control of the firearm occurred in the
State of Washington.

CP 186 (Instruction 6); see RCW 9.41.040(1).
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A defendant's knowledge of the illegality of firearm possession is

not an element of the ofFense. State v. Minor, 162 Wn.2d 796, 802, 174

P.3d 1162 (2008). In other words, the State need not prove that the

defendant knew that he was ineligible to possess a firearm.

Instead, the Washington Supreme Court has held that lack of

notice is an affirmative defense to UPFA, which a defendant must prove

by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Breitun~, 173 Wn.2d 393,

403, 267 P.3d 1012 (2011). Here, the UPFA statute requires that the court

at the time of the predicate conviction notify the defendant both orally and

in writing that he may not possess a firearm. Id.; RCW 9.41.047(1)(a)

("At the time a person is convicted ... of an offense making the person

ineligible to possess a firearm, ...the convicting ...court shall notify the

person, orally and in writing :..that the person may not possess a firearm

unless his or her right to do so is restored by a court of record."). In the

absence of proof of both oral and written notice, the State may also prove

that the defendant "otherwise had knowledge of the law or notice of the

firearm prohibition," if such proof is sufficient to establish "actual

knowledge[.]" Breitun~, 173 Wn.2d at 404.

In accordance with this rule, the trial court in this case instructed

the jury as follows:
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It is an affirmative defense to the crime of Unlawful Possession of
a Firearm in the First Degree that the defendant had a lack of
notice.

This defense must be established by a preponderance of the
evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be
persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that it is more
probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has
established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of
not guilty.

Actual notice can be met where the evidence demonstrates oT~al
and written notification, or by other° evidence.

CP 187 (Instruction 7) (emphasis added); 3RP 598.

Mitchell challenges neither this instruction nor the sufficiency of

the evidence to satisfy the elements of UPFA. Instead, he asserts only that

no reasonable jury could have disbelieved his affirmative defense. But the

State adduced evidence that Mitchell did receive proper notice. The jury

was entitled to find his testimony to the contrary incredible.

The trial court admitted Exhibit 11, a copy of Mitchell's statement

on plea of guilty to his predicate offense in juvenile court. 3RP 546-49,

555-58, 566; Exhibit 11 (attached as Appendix E). He admitted that the

conviction was for a serious felony offense. See 3RP 506, 568 (stipulating

to serious offense); 3RP 546 (admitting to felony). It was his signature

that appeared on the plea statement.11 3RP 547.

11 While the plea statement is.captioned and signed as "Lavelle Brown," Mitchell
stipulated that he was previously known as Lavelle Brown and that he was the individual
named in the juvenile case. 3RP 568.
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The plea statement contained the following language:

RIGHT TO POSSESS FIREARMS: [JUDGE MUST READ THE
FOLLOWING TO OFFENDER] I have been informed that if I am
pleading uil to any offense that is classified as a felony or any
of the following crimes when committed by one family or
household member against another: assault in the fourth degree,
coercion, stalking, reckless endangerment, criminal trespass in the
first degree, or violation of the provisions of a protection order or
no-contact order restraining the person or excluding the person
from a residence: that I may not possess, own, or have under mX
control any firearm unless m right to do so has been restored by a
court of record. RCW 9.41.040(1).

Exhibit 11 at 4 (bracketed statement and emphasis original) (App. E at 4).

The underlined language above appears to have been underlined on the

plea statement by hand. E~ibit 11 at 4. The subsection letter marking

this paragraph also has been circled. Exhibit 11 at 4

Mitchell's signature was affixed below this advisement, along with

the statement, "I have read or someone has read to me everything printed

above ... and I understand it in fu1L I have been given a copy of this

statement. I have no more questions to ask the judge." Exhibit 11 at 6

(App. E at 6). The plea statement was also signed by his attorney, with the

statement that, "I have read and discussed this statement with the

respondent and believe that the respondent is competent and fully

understands the statement." E~ibit 11 at 6. Finally, the statement was

also signed by a judge, who certified that the statement was signed by the

respondent in open court in the presence of his lawyer and the judge.
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E~ibit 11 at 6. The judge had also certified that Mitchell, himself, had

asserted that this lawyer had previously read to him the entire plea

statement and that he had understood it in full. E~ibit 11 at 6. Finally,

the judge had found that Mitchell's plea was knowing, voluntary, and

intelligent, and that he understood the charge and the consequences of his

plea. E~iibit 11 at 6.

The trial court also admitted E~ibit 10, a copy of Mitchell's

juvenile disposition order for his predicate offense. 3RP 551-55, 566;

Exhibit 10 (attached at Appendix F). The disposition order had also

informed Mitchell that:

FIREARM PROHIBITION. If you are found to have committed a
felony ... [y]ou may not own, use, or possess any firearm unless
your right to do so is restored by a court of record.

E~ibit 10 at 2 (App. F at 2). Mitchell signed the disposition order.

3RP 555; E~ibit 10 at 3. So did his attorney and the sentencing judge.

E~iibit 10 at 3.

Mitchell testified that he could not remember if he was represented

by an attorney when he pleaded guilty in juvenile court. 3RP 555. He

could not remember if he signed the document in court. 3RP 556, 558.

He could not remember if there was a judge present. 3RP 556. He could

not remember if an attorney read the paragraph to him, explaining that he

was ineligible to possess a firearm. 3RP 557-58. He could not remember
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if a judge read that paragraph to him, either. 3RP 55.8. The only thing that

he could remember was that he did not read the document. 3RP 556.

Mitchell also testified that he did not remember being in court

when he signed E~iibit 10, his disposition order. 3RP 551-52. He could

not recall if a judge had been present. 3RP 552. He could not recall if he

had met with a lawyer. 3RP 552. He could not recall signing the

document. 3RP 552. The only thing he could remember was that he had

not read the document. 3RP 553.

Ultimately, after being questioned extensively about both

documents, Mitchell testified that the only thing that he could remember

about either document, and the circumstances surrounding his guilty plea

and sentencing, was that he had never read them. 3RP 559. He also

testified that he had a good memory and that he would have remembered

if he had been informed that he could not possess a firearm. 3RP 560.

However, he still could not recall any details of pleading guilty, signing

the documents, or reading the documents. 3RP 560. He admitted then

that he had a "good memory" when it came to whether he had been

advised about firearms, but a "bad memory" about everything else. 3RP

561-62. When asked whether it was possible that he had indeed been told

of his ineligibility to possess a firearm, Mitchell answered, "No," but then

added, "Yes—no. I don't I don't remember." 3RP 563.
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This testimony was strange, inconsistent, and highly incredible.

The jury was entitled to find that Mitchell was being untruthful and that he

had indeed received oral and written notice of his ineligibility to possess a

firearm. Even if the jury believed that the convicting court failed to advise

Mitchell of his ineligibility to possess a firearm both orally and in writing,

the jury could reasonably have found that the sentencing court had advised

him of this prohibition—or that he had read it himself, or that his attorney

had advised him of it thus "otherwise" proving that Mitchell had actual

knowledge. See Breitun~, 173 Wn.2d at 404.

Mitchell even acknowledges that the plea and disposition

paperwork tended to prove that he had actual knowledge of the firearm

prohibition. He writes that, "[T]here is simply no evidence in the record,

apart from Mr. Mitchell's written statement of plea on [sic] guilty and the

disposition papers that proves that he had actual knowledge that he was

not allowed to possess a firearm."12 Br. of App't at 18-19. But Mitchell

does not explain how this evidence, taken as true and in the light most

lZ Mitchell insists that "because the State failed to establish oral notice, and there was
[sic] indication on the record, the Court and the jury must assume that ̀ no such notice
was given."' Br. ofApp't at 19 (quoting State v. Minor, 162 Wn.2d 796, 800, 174 Pad
1162 (2008)). But there ~~as indication in the record that Mitchell received oral notice—
his plea statement included an oral advisement that the judge was required to read.
Exhibit 11 at 4 (App. E). The letter for this subsection was circled and the pertinent
advisement underlined. Id. In contrast, the firearm advisement in Minor had been left
"unchecked" on the relevant documentation, and both parties in that case agreed that the
defendant had not received oral or written notice. 162 Wn.2d at 797, 800.
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favorable to the State, was insufficient for a reasonable jury to disbelieve

his defense. His conviction should be affirmed.

3. MITCHELL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL CLAIM SHOULD BE REJECTED.

Mitchell asserts that his trial attorney's failure to obtain an audio

recording of his juvenile sentencing hearing constituted deficient

performance of counsel, and that this failure prejudiced him. The basis for

this claim is Mitchell's assertion that the audio recording would have

supported his affirmative defense of lack of notice.

This claim fails for four reasons. First, Mitchell has not provided a

copy of an audio recording of this hearing, nor does it appear in the record

below. Because the recording does not appear in the record, Mitchell is

precluded from bringing this claim on direct review. Second, also because

the recording does not appear in the record, Mitchell cannot meet his

burden of showing deficient performance or prejudice. Third, even if a

recording of the sentencing hearing appeared in the record, Mitchell's

claim still would fail because the duty to notify a defendant of the

ineligibility to possess a firearm applies to the convicting court, not to the

sentencing court. Finally, even if a duty applied to the sentencing court,

and assuming for the sake of argument that it was deficient for his attorney

to fail to obtain a copy, Mitchell would be unable to demonstrate prejudice
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because the State otherwise proved that he had actual knowledge of his

ineligibility to possess a firearm.

a. Standard Of Review.

A challenge based on ineffective assistance of counsel is reviewed

de novo. State v. Sutherbv, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant

bears the burden of proving both: (1) that trial counsel's performance fell

below a minimum objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) that the

defendant was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. State v.

West, 139 Wn.2d 37, 41-42, 983 P.2d 617 (1999) (citing Strickland v.

Washin on, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)).

Regarding the performance prong, "scrutiny of counsel's

performance is highly deferential and courts will indulge in a strong

presumption of reasonableness." State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226,

743 P.2d 816 (1987) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689).

Regarding the prejudice prong, a defendant must prove that "there

is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the

result of the proceeding would have been different." Thomas, 109 Wn.2d

at 226 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694). If a defendant fails to meet

either prong, the inquiry ends. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78,

917 P.2d 563 (1996).
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b. Mitchell Has Not Shown Deficient Performance
Or Prejudice.

As noted, Mitchell's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails

for four reasons. First, his claim is essentially non-reviewable. He argues

that his attorney should have obtained a copy of an audio recording of his

sentencing hearing, and that this failure caused him prejudice, but he has

not provided this Court with a copy of the proposed audio recording.13

"A party seeking review has the burden of perfecting the record so that the

appellate court has before it all the evidence relevant to the issue." State

v. Garcia, 45 Wn. App. 132, 140, 724 P.2d 412 (1986). This Court should

decline to consider Mitchell's claim for this reason alone. See State v.

Guerrero, 163 Wn. App. 773, 779, 261 P.3d 197 (2011) ("This argument is

unsupported by citation to the record and authority, and as such we need

not consider it.") (citing RAP 10.3(a)(6)).

In fact, it does not appear that the proposed recording was ever

made a part of the record below. A defendant who wishes to introduce

facts outside of the record in support of an ineffective assistance of

counsel claim must bring a personal restraint petition. State v. McFarland,

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